STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge  
Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

MAR 05 2018

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RICHARD A. CAPELL,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000475

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

LAURA R. BAER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the trial court erred in ruling that Appellant was not immune from prosecution for pointing and presenting a firearm pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act where the Act provides immunity to a person who is not engaged in unlawful activity and meets force with force when he is attacked in a place where he has a right to be if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 12, 2015, the Richland County Grand Jury true-billed an indictment against Appellant Richard Capell for pointing and presenting a firearm in violation of S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-23-410. R. 280. The charges arose from an incident on February 16, 2015, between Capell and John Bunucci, the manager of the condominium complex where Capell owned a unit and resided.

On January 13, 2016, Capell filed a notice and motion for immunity from prosecution pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-11-440(c). R. 1; R. 2. Defense counsel also filed a written memorandum in support of immunity. R. 3.

On January 19, 2016, appeared before the Honorable Clifton B. Newman for a hearing to determine Capell's immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act. Capell was represented by Sarah Jurick and Maisie Osteen, and the state was represented by assistant solicitors John Conrad and Joe Berry. R. 11. Judge Newman heard testimony from Capell, Capell's mother Susan Mitchell, and the alleged victim John Bunucci. R. 12. Additionally, Judge Newman reviewed a video of the incident captured by a "body camera" worn by the Capell. R. 28, ll. 1-19; R. 45, l. 15 – 47, l. 10; State's Ex. 1 (on file with this Court). Judge Newman ultimately denied the defense's motion for immunity. R. 77, l. 6 – 78, l. 13

On January 25-26, 2016, Capell appeared for trial before the Honorable Robert E. Hood and a jury. R. 82. The jury returned a verdict of guilty. R. 270, l. 18 – 271, l. 16. On February 19, 2016, Judge Hood sentenced Capell to five years suspended upon the service of three years, followed by five years on probation. R. 277, l. 23 – 278, l. 23.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

**The trial court erred in ruling that Appellant was not immune from prosecution for pointing and presenting a firearm pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act where the Act provides immunity to a person who is not engaged in unlawful activity and meets force with force when he is attacked in a place where he has a right to be if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself.**

### Introduction

This case involves the applicability of the Protection of Persons and Property Act (the “Act”) to the act of pointing and presenting a firearm. S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-11-410 et al. The Act provides that “[a] person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be . . . has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself . . . .” S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-11-440(C). Our Courts have determined that, in order to be granted immunity from prosecution under the Act, a defendant must prove all the elements of self-defense, except the duty to retreat, by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011).

Thus, to be entitled to immunity the defense must prove the following elements: (1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant must have been in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; and (3) if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief, or if the defendant was actually in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life. State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 752 S.E.2d 263 (2013).

In the present case, Appellant Capell had a verbal dispute with John Bunucci, the manager of the condominium complex where Capell owned a unit and resided. Capell left Bunucci's office after slamming his hand on the desk, telling Bunucci that he would see him in court and slamming the office door. Bunucci, who was eight inches taller and outweighed Capell by at least one hundred pounds, then swung the office door open, rushed toward Capell, and yelled "Are you threatening me? 'Cause if you're threatening me, I'll fucking have your shit down." Capell did not pull the trigger on his firearm because he was successful in repelling the threat against him by displaying his gun and telling Bunucci to "get the fuck back."

As will be discussed more fully *infra*, Judge Newman erred in ruling that Capell failed to meet his burden of proof that he was entitled to immunity from prosecution. Judge Newman properly found that Capell was not engaged in unlawful activity, but the remainder of his findings were not supported by the evidence or applicable precedent.

#### **Relevant Facts**

The incident arose from a dispute between Capell, a disabled homeowner residing in the Point Arcadia condominium complex, and the condominium complex manager, John Bunucci. In addition to some other problems, Capell had previously requested that his service dog, Bandit, be allowed to accompany him in the swimming pool at the complex. Capell said that Bunucci originally told him that Bandit was not allowed in the pool. Bunucci claimed that he said he did not know if the dog was allowed in the pool but would find out. Capell later received an e-mail from Bunucci telling him that his dog was allowed in the pool but requesting that he only access the pool during "off hours" when others would not be in the pool. R. 13, l. 21 – 24, l. 10; R. 48, l. 17 – 50, l. 5; R. 60, l. 15 – 61, l. 10. On February 16, 2015, Capell donned a makeshift "body

camera” and entered the complex’s club house, where Bunucci’s office was located. R. 28, ll. 1-29; R. 45, l. 15 – 47, l. 10; State’s Ex. 1.

#### *Video of Incident*

The video begins with Capell getting out of his car and going into the club house. State’s Ex. 1. 00:00 – 00:45. Capell opened the office door and began asking Bunucci about various problems, including his dog’s access to the pool and the failure to provide Capell with a copy of the condo bylaws. Capell told Bunucci he could either “confess” or he would show up with the police. When Bunucci would not admit any wrongdoing, Capell said the desk with is hand and said “You’re going to plead the Fifth? Good. I’ll see you in Court. Have a good day.” **Capell turned around and slammed the office door as he left.** State’s Ex. 1. 00:57 – 02:42. As Capell was leaving, Bunucci quickly got up from his desk and said: “Are you threatening me?” Capell responded “no” and continued to walk toward the clubhouse door to leave. **As Bunucci burst through the office doorway and rushed toward Capell, Bunucci yelled: “Cause if you’re threatening me, I’ll fucking have your shit down.”** Capell turned around and pointed his gun at Bunucci and said: “Get the fuck back.” Bunucci stopped and said: “Did you just pull that off?” Capell responded: “Yes. Get the fuck back.” At that point, Bunucci said okay, turned around, and went back into his office. Capell left the clubhouse and returned to his car. State’s Ex. 1. 02:40 – 03:29. Though the entire video was three minutes and twenty-nine seconds, only thirteen seconds passed from the time Capell hit is hand on the desk until the time Bunucci turned to go back into his office. State’s Ex. 1. 02:37 – 02:50.

#### *Testimony*

In addition to the video, Judge Newman heard testimony from Capell’s mother Susan Mitchell, Capell, and Bunucci. Ms. Mitchell provided the court with information regarding

Capell's physical disabilities. Capell was born a twin with multiple birth defects. His abdomen was exposed in the front and he had severe bilateral club feet, with his toes up against the calves of each leg. Despite a series of procedures to close the abdominal area at age ten, Capell continued to have problems and mesh was used to cover the abdominal wall. Over the years, the mesh began to erode and Capell suffered a series of hernias. R. 14, l. 7 – 15, l. 24; R. 17, ll. 1-7. A few years prior to the hearing, doctors determined that he needed a total abdominal wall reconstruction which had not yet been performed. R. 15, l. 24 – 16, l. 5; R. 19, l. 8 – 20, l. 15. Capell also suffered from lung problems, bone loss, and arthritis. R. 16, l. 8 – 17, l. 7; R. 17, ll. 8-23. **Ms. Mitchell said that Capell had to be very careful about lifting and carrying things or getting in a position where he would have a direct blow to his abdomen.** R. 18, ll. 17-24. Though Capell had volunteered as an emergency medical technician, he was disabled due to his myriad of health problems. R. 21, l. 2 – 22, l. 4.

Capell testified that he was a concealed weapons permit (“CWP”) holder prior to and during the incident with Bunucci. R. 94, ll. 7-16. Capell explained that he went to Bunucci's office in the Point Arcadia clubhouse after receiving a call from an Americans with Disabilities Act advocacy group, who told him that Bunucci had been making “inappropriate phones calls to them and to PALS and other places,” ostensibly about Capell. He wanted Bunucci to confess to denying pool access to his service dog in violation of S.C. CODE ANN. § 43-33-40.<sup>1</sup> Capell became “perturbed” when Bunucci would not answer his questions, so he slammed his fist on the

---

<sup>1</sup> S.C. CODE ANN. § 43-33-40 provides: “(A) It is unlawful for a person or his agent to: (1) deny or interfere with admittance to or enjoyment of the public facilities enumerated in Section 43-33-20; or (2) interfere with the rights of a totally or partially blind or disabled person under Section 43-33-20. (B) A person who violates the provisions of this section is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, must be fined in the discretion of the court or imprisoned not more than three years, or both.”

desk, said “I’ll see you in court,” turned around and started to leave.<sup>2</sup> R. 23, l. 17 – 24, l. 23; Imm. R. 26, l. 22 – 27, l. 16. Capell admitted that his voice was raised and he was aggravated. While the solicitor described Capell as “extremely close” to Bunucci, Cappell explained that his close proximity was merely a product of the small footprint of the office space. R. 27, ll. 17-20; R. 28, l. 20 – 29, l. 12.

Capell said that before he could get the office door closed, Bunucci was up and out of his desk charging toward him and yelling. Capell slammed the door shut and retreated but he heard the office door open behind him. R. 24, l. 23 – 25, l. 5; R. 29, l. 13 – 30, l. 15. Capell felt threatened because Bunucci had never raised his voice like that to Capell before and because of Bunucci’s size. He noted the great disparities in their heights and weights, with **Bunucci standing 6’2” and weighing over one hundred pounds more than Capell’s slight 5’6” frame.**<sup>3</sup> R. 30, l. 16 – 31, l. 3; R. 3 (noting that Capell weighed one-hundred fifty pounds). Capell also noted Bunucci’s remark that he would take Capell down. R. 33, ll. 4-15; R. 34, ll. 1-10. While Capell did not see Bunucci as he came through the door because his back was turned, he could hear the tone and aggression in his voice and the door opening as he advanced closer to Capell. R. 31, l. 4 – 32, l. 12; R. 38, l. 11 – 39, l. 2. The men were only six to eight steps apart when Bunucci came through the door and took two or three more steps toward Capell. Though Capell did not see any weapon in Bunucci’s hand and did not know him to carry a weapon, he noted how quickly the distance between them could have been closed and that one’s bare hands can be a weapon. R. 34, ll. 12-14; R. 35, l. 18 – 36, l. 16.

---

<sup>2</sup> Though Capell testified that he said “I’ll see your ass in court,” the video reveals that he actually said “I’ll see you in court.” Compare R. 24, ll. 19-20, with State’s Ex. 1, 02:37 – 02:39.

<sup>3</sup> When the Court reviews the video tape, it will be able to observe Bunucci’s large stature.

Capell “engaged the threat” by pulling out his weapon to stop Bunucci. Capell said he was in fear of great bodily harm due to his vulnerability to such an attack but said there was no need to shoot Bunucci once he stopped and stepped back. R. 25, ll. 5-24; R. 32, l. 13 – 33, l. 15; R. 35, ll. 8-15. Capell uploaded the video of the incident to Youtube and sent a copy to the Forest Acres Police Department. R. 39, l. 20 – 40, l. 25.

Bunucci also testified at the immunity hearing. Bunucci agreed that his office was located in the club house and that residents could “absolutely” come there to talk to him. Imm. R. 59, l. 14 – 60, l. 14. Capell came into his office around lunchtime on February 16, 2015, while Bunucci was trying to fix the modem so that he could get materials ready for a meeting that night. R. 44, l. 10 – 45, l. 10. Bunucci expressed his frustration over how Capell talked to him and said: “I don't expect being treated like that by anybody and to get threatened with jail time for something that I had no idea what was going on, was just crazy.” R. 47, ll. 14-22. Bunucci was aware that Capell was a CWP holder and recounted previous complaints and interactions with Capell prior to the incident, though none of them turned violent. R. 47, l. 25 – 53, l. 5. On the date in question, Bunucci claimed that Capell was standing over him and “extremely, extremely aggressive” such that he felt threatened. R. 53, ll. 6-15. Though belied by the video, Bunucci claimed that Capell slammed his hands right between Bunucci and the computer on which he was working. R. 53, l. 17 – 54, l. 4; State’s Ex 1, 02:35 – 02:40. Bunucci said that when he got up he was thinking “enough is enough” and that Capell was not his boss. R. 53, l. 1 – 55, l. 1.

Bunucci said that Capell “bolted out” of the office so he “got up and opened the door to yell at him.” R. 57, ll. 5-9. Bunucci contended that when he said “I’ll fucking have your shit down” he meant that he was going to call the cops and that Capell “was going to go down for all

this, all the BS that he's pulling." R. 55, ll. 2-7. He alleged that he was going to press charges against Capell for threatening him or for harassment. R. 55, ll. 8-13; R. 65, ll. 6-16. Bunucci said that he did not have a weapon and claimed that he was not going to hit Capell. R. 55, ll. 18-25. Bunucci said that "it all happened so fast." Though he did not see Capell pull the gun, he believed it was pointed at the door before he even came out of the office. R. 55, l. 14-17; R. 56, ll. 1-17; R. 63, ll. 1-25. Bunucci said that once he saw the gun he was not going to stand there and confront Capell anymore, so he turned around and called the police. R. 56, ll. 18-24. Bunucci claimed that after he returned to his office, Capell "stood there because he was -- I think he was, I think he was upset that I didn't go after him so he was disappointed that he couldn't shoot me 'cause he, he came there with the intent to provoke and to pull his weapon." R. 64, ll. 4-20.

#### *Arguments of Counsel*

Defense counsel argued that Capell was not engaged in an unlawfully activity, citing his right to air his grievances to the property manager. Though annoying, Capell's actions were not illegal. His only threats were to contact police and to file a civil law suit. R. 66, l. 13 – 67, l. 20. It was undisputed that Capell had a right to be in the clubhouse and office as a condo owner. R. 67, ll. 20-25. While Bunucci did not make any physical contact with Capell, Capell reasonably believed that he was going to be attacked. Defense counsel noted that the gap between the men closed very quickly, Bunucci's heated words when he burst out of the door, Capell's never having heard Bunucci raise his voice and be so angry, and the disparity in the mens' sizes. She also noted Capell's serious disabilities such that one blow to his stomach could cause great bodily injury. R. 68, ll. 1-21. Defense counsel argued that Capell "has to have a way to stop

something in self-defense before it actually happens” and directed the court to the self-defense case of State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 716 S.E.2d 97 (2011). R. 68, l. 22 – 69, l. 2.

Judge Newman interrupted and said **“Well, if you’re talking self-defense then you’re -- then we’re not talking stand your ground. We’re talking you’re convincing the jury about self-defense, not me.”** R. 69, ll. 3-6 (emphasis added). Defense counsel argued that self-defense is relevant to establishing immunity. She noted that the Dickey court considered the disability and size differences in determining that the defendant had the right to shoot somebody who was coming at him quickly though it turned out that they were unarmed. She argued that Capell was similarly entitled to pull his gun on someone who he thought was going to seriously injure him. Defense counsel also pointed to the Court to the memorandum of law that she filed in this case. R. 69, ll. 7-20; R. 3.

The solicitor agreed with the defense’s position that in order to be entitled to immunity, the defense must “establish a baseline of self-defense” and “meet the specification of the Act.” R. 69, l. 22 – 70, l. 12. However, the solicitor argued that the defense’s reliance on case law regarding acting on appearances was misplaced and that the Act requires that the victim use force upon the defendant in order for immunity to apply. R. 70, ll. 12-22. He argued that a reasonable view of the testimony and video could lead to the conclusion that a reasonable prudent person would not believe that he was under physical attack in the situation that Capell was in. R. 70, l. 22 – 71, l. 4.

Regarding the elements of self-defense, the solicitor noted the defense’s quotation of State v. Bryant, 336 S.C. 340, 345, 520 S.E.2d 319, 322 (1999), that “[a]ny act of the accused in violation of law and reasonably calculated to produce the occasion amounts to bringing on the difficulty and bars his right to assert self-defense as a justification or excuse for a homicide.” He

argued that a defendant can still be at fault in bringing on the difficulty even if he is acting lawfully, citing State v. Strickland, 389 S.C. 210, 697 S.E.2d 681 (Ct. App. 2010). He argued that Capell's tone and actions were calculated to provoke Bunucci and that Capell "got what he asked for." R. 71, l. 5 – 73, l. 22. The solicitor further argued that Capell did not retreat from the situation in order to become later entitled to self-defense. Though both Bunucci's testimony and the video show that he was still standing up behind the desk when the door was closed, the solicitor argued that Capell "slammed the door in the victim's face," continuing the hostilities. R. 73, l. 23 – 75, l. 1.

Defense counsel responded that the solicitor's argument regarding "force with force" suggests that someone has to wait to be physically assaulted or shot in order to defend themselves, which is a complete contradiction to the purpose of the Act. R. 75, l. 19 – 76, l. 19. Regarding acting on appearances, defense counsel argued that a threat to sue the property management office was a far cry from the language used in Strickland. Additionally, the solicitor's theory that Capell came there intending to incite to Bunucci was belied by the fact that Bunucci had never reacted in such a fashion before during a confrontation regarding the same or similar matters. R. 76, l. 19 – 77, l. 5.

#### *Judge Newman's Ruling*

At the conclusion of the immunity hearing, Judge Newman found that Capell was not engaged in unlawful activity. R. 77, ll. 9-14. However, he found that Capell failed to show that he was attacked or under the threat of any force, finding instead that Capell was the aggressor. R. 77, ll. 15-22. Judge Newman further found that there was nothing that demonstrated any reasonable belief that his action – pulling a weapon – was necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury. R. 77, l. 22 – 78, l. 4. Thus, Judge Newman ruled that Capell "failed to convince

the Court by a preponderance of the evidence that he's entitled to immunity." R. 78, ll. 4-6. He further said:

I think the entire hearing in that connection is a waste of time if you believe that he can enter into the property manager's office in a threatening and menacing fashion and pull a gun on him after threatening to get him arrested and sued and all that, and then to expect the law to protect his actions. So I deny the motion.

R. 78, ll. 7-13.

### *Trial and Renewal of Motions*

Capell's trial proceeded in much of the same fashion as the immunity hearing. At the close of the state's case, the defense renewed all of their previous motions to include "the immunity hearing on January 19<sup>th</sup>." R. 225, ll. 18-20. The trial judge indicated that all prior rulings would stand. R. 225, ll. 21-22. Defense counsel also renewed all of their motions following the jury's verdict. R. 275, ll. 5-9.

### **Discussion**

#### **A. Capell established the elements required under S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-11-440(C).**

Pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-11-440(C), a person has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if (1) he was not engaged in an unlawful activity; (2) he was attacked in another place where he had a right to be; and (3) he reasonably believed the use of force was necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself. "Great bodily injury" is statutorily defined as "bodily injury which creates a substantial risk of death or which causes serious, permanent disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-430(2).

Judge Newman properly found that Capell was not engaged in an unlawful activity. R. 77, ll. 9-14. However, he erred in finding that Capell was not attacked, that "there was no intent by anyone to impose any force upon [Capell]," and that there was no evidence that Capell had a

reasonable belief that pulling his weapon was necessary. R. 77, l. 15 – 78, l. 6. Judge Newman’s final comments are demonstrative of his flawed analysis – he said that the law would not protect Capell after he “enter[ed] into the property manager’s office in a threatening and menacing fashion and pull[ed] a gun on him after threatening to get him arrested and sued and all that.” R. 78, ll. 7-13. While Capell was certainly rude to Bunucci, his actions were not sufficient to warrant his being physically advanced upon by Bunucci while he yelled “I’ll fucking have your shit down.” It was only then that Capell brandished his weapon in an effort to stop Bunucci’s attack.

As a homeowner in the Point Arcadia condominium complex, Capell had a legal right to be in the clubhouse and in the manager’s office. Even Bunucci admitted that homeowners frequently came to his office and “absolutely” had a right to come there to talk to him. R. 59, l. 14 – 60, l. 8. The crux of Judge Newman’s ruling was that he did not believe that Capell was attacked or that Capell reasonably believed it was necessary to point his firearm in order to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself. However, the video and testimony reflected that Capell had threatened only legal action and then slammed closed the office door. While Bunucci never made physical contact with Capell, the video of the incident reflected the quick change in Bunucci’s tone and demeanor. He stormed out after Capell, yelling: “Are you threatening me? ‘Cause if you’re threatening me, I’ll fucking have your shit down” while taking several large steps and rapidly decreasing the distance between them. Bunucci’s claim that his words meant that he was going to call the police was simply incredible.

Capell had never seen Bunucci so enraged. Bunucci was not a small man, outweighing Capell by at least one hundred pounds and standing eight inches taller. Capell further explained:

I chose to do what I did because of the short distance between us. You don’t sit there when somebody is holding a knife in their hands at 10 feet away from you

and think that, oh, it's just a knife, it's not gonna harm me. They can close that distance and stab you before you can blink your eye.

R. 25, ll. 1-7. Capell appeared to be referring to “the twenty-one foot rule,” a standard that “is based on studies which have shown that an armed individual within twenty-one feet of an officer still has time to get to the officer and stab and fatally wound the officer even if the officer has his weapon brandished and is prepared to or has fired a shot.” Sigman v. Town of Chapel Hill, 161 F.3d 782, 785 (4th Cir. 1998). Though Capell did not see a weapon in Bunucci’s hand, he aptly noted that Bunucci’s bare hands could have been used as a weapon. See State v. Bennett, 328 S.C. 251, 262, 493 S.E.2d 845, 851 (1997) (finding that “a hand or fist may be considered a deadly weapon depending on the factual circumstances”). Capell also suffered physical disabilities that made him more vulnerable to attack, adding to the reasonableness of Capell’s belief that a blow from Bunucci could cause him great bodily injury.

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