STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 05 2018

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge
The Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000475

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

RICHARD A. CAPELL,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DANIEL E. JOHNSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192
Columbia, SC 29202
(803)-576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for immunity under the South Carolina Protection of Persons and Property Act.

Appellant contends the trial court erred in ruling Appellant was not immune from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act. Specifically, Appellant asserts he established all required elements of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440 (C). Appellant further avers he established a valid case of self-defense. Both of Appellant's claims lack merit. Appellant's misdeeds conclusively fail to qualify for immunity pursuant to the Act where Appellant did not use deadly force as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450, nor did he establish the required elements under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440 (C). Further, Appellant was not properly acting in self-defense where he unreasonably pulled a firearm on Bunucci during a verbal altercation Appellant instigated.

Protection of Persons and Property Act

"The cardinal rule of statutory construction is a court must ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature." State v. Scott, 351 S.C. 584, 588, 571 S.E.2d 700, 702 (2002) (citing Charleston County Sch. Dist. v. State Budget and Control Bd., 313 S.C. 1, 437 S.E.2d 6 (1993))

All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the maxim that legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used. A statute's language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute. Whenever possible, legislative intent should be found in the plain language of the statute itself.

State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 561, 647 S.E.2d 144, 161 (2007) (internal citations omitted).

"The legislature's intent should be ascertained primarily from the plain language of the statute. Words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or

forced construction which limits or expands the statute's operation." State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 693, 583 S.E.2d 437, 446 (Ct. App. 2003) (internal citation omitted).

The Act provides: "It is the intent of the General Assembly to codify the common law Castle Doctrine which recognizes that a person's home is his castle...." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(A) (Supp. 2011). The Act also states, "the General Assembly finds that it is proper for law-abiding citizens to protect themselves, their families, and others from intruders and attackers without fear of prosecution or civil action for acting in defense of themselves and others." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(B) (Supp. 2011).

The Act further provides:

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, . . ., his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) (Supp. 2011) (emphasis added). The Act contains a definition of deadly force, defining it as force "that is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily injury to another person." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A) (Supp. 2011). The Act defines great bodily injury: "'Great bodily injury' means bodily injury which creates a substantial risk of death or which causes serious, permanent disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-430(2) (Supp. 2011).

The immunity provision at issue provides:

A) A person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article or another applicable provision of law is justified in using deadly force and is immune from criminal prosecution and civil action for the use of deadly force, unless the person against whom deadly force was used is a law enforcement officer....

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450 (Supp. 2011).

The South Carolina Supreme Court considered the immunity provision in State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011). The Court concluded: “We agree with the circuit court that the legislature intended defendants be shielded from trial if they use deadly force as outlined under the Act. Immunity under the Act is therefore a bar to prosecution and, upon motion of either party, must be decided prior to trial.” Id. at 410, 709 S.E.2d at 665 (emphasis added).

A clear reading of the immunity provision indicates it only applies when an individual uses deadly force as authorized by the Act. In this case, Appellant pointed his firearm at Bunucci’s chest. The simple act of pointing a firearm is not an act that is “intended or likely to cause death or great bodily injury to another person.” Without Appellant completing an overt action, i.e., actually firing the weapon, there was no exertion of deadly force. Pointing a weapon at someone could invariably lead to the use of deadly force, however the mere act of pointing and presenting in itself does not constitute the use of deadly force. As a result, Appellant’s conduct does not entitle him to immunity even if he did otherwise act in accordance with Section 16-11-440(C).

Additionally, even if this Court overlooks the fact that Appellant does not qualify for immunity when he did not use deadly force, the Supreme Court determined the defendant has the burden of proving his entitlement to immunity. The Court further held: “when a party raises the question of statutory immunity prior to trial, the proper standard for the circuit court to use in determining immunity under the Act is a preponderance of the evidence.” Duncan, 392 S.C. at 411, 709 S.E.2d at 665. As noted above, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C), a person has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if (1) he was not engaged in an unlawful activity; (2) he was attacked in another

place where he had a right to be, and (3) he reasonably believed the use of force was necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself. There is considerable evidence to support the trial judge's finding Appellant was never faced with any force, was not attacked in a place he had a rightful place to be, and could not reasonably believe the use of force was necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself. First, Appellant was never faced with any force whatsoever; therefore he had no right to meet "force with force." Appellant initiated a verbal altercation with Bunucci and when Bunucci followed Appellant to continue the verbal altercation, Appellant needlessly pulled a pistol and pointed it at Bunucci. Rather than meeting "force with force," Appellant met words with force. Second, and similarly, Appellant was never "attacked." While Appellant did have a right to be in the clubhouse, Bunucci was simply continuing the verbal confrontation Appellant started. At no point was Appellant "attacked." Finally, as noted by the trial judge, nothing in Appellant's actions approaches reasonable behavior. Appellant started a verbal confrontation, threatened Bunucci, and slammed Bunucci's office door. When Bunucci followed Appellant to continue discussing the matter, Appellant pulled a gun on him. Bunucci was walking towards Appellant and had his hands by his side. There is absolutely no credible evidence to support the assertion Appellant reasonably believed the use of force was necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself. Appellant, thus, completely failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that he satisfied the requisite elements to qualify for immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act. Appellant's action of pulling a gun on a man with whom he was arguing is certainly not the type of conduct the legislature meant to protect in codifying the Act.

Self Defense

Appellant also contends he established a valid case of self-defense because he was not at fault in bringing on the difficulty, he believed he was in imminent danger of sustaining serious bodily injury, and a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. To the contrary, the State disproved at least three of the elements of self-defense. When a defendant claims self-defense, the State is required to disprove the elements of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 544–45, 500 S.E.2d 489, 492–93 (1998). “It is an axiomatic principle of law that the defense has not been established if any one element is disproven.” State v. Williams, 400 S.C. 308, 315, 733 S.E.2d 605, 609 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 554, 698 S.E.2d 572, 586 (2010)). To establish self-defense in South Carolina, four elements must be present: (1) the defendant was without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; (3) a reasonable, prudent person of ordinary fitness and courage would have entertained the same belief; and (4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury other than to act as he did. State v. Santiago, 370 S.C. 153, 634 S.E.2d 23 (Ct. App. 2006) (citing Jackson v. State, 355 S.C. 568, 570-71, 586 S.E.2d 562, 562 (2003); State v. Day, 341 S.C. 410, 416, 535 S.E.2d 431, 434 (2000)).

In Appellant’s case, the State demonstrated an absence of three of the four elements. First, the State showed Appellant was at fault in bringing about the difficulty. Appellant went to Bunucci’s office with a phone with video capabilities strapped to his chest to confront Bunucci about the issue regarding Appellant’s dog. Appellant swung open the door without knocking and asked Bunucci “what are you criminals up to today.” Appellant then harassed Bunucci,

imploring him to “confess” and threatening police and judicial intervention in the event that he did not. After threatening Bunucci, Appellant slammed the door to his office. When Bunucci exited the office to continue the verbal confrontation started by Appellant, he found a gun pointed at his chest. Appellant was thus at fault in bringing about the situation that ended in him drawing his weapon on a man who was just arguing with him.

Second, the State also demonstrated a reasonable prudent person of ordinary fitness and courage would not believe he was in danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury. The facts demonstrated that Appellant and Bunucci were engaged in a verbal disagreement. Appellant threatened Bunucci, telling him he would see him in court, before slamming the door. When Bunucci left his office to continue the conversation with Appellant, he was walking with his hands by his side. No reasonable person would believe someone walking towards them during a verbal altercation could result in serious bodily injury.

Finally, since the Protection of Persons and Property Act did not apply in Appellant’s case, it did not eliminate Appellant’s responsibility to retreat or seek other means of avoiding the danger. Appellant’s action of telling Bunucci he would see him in court and then slamming the door did not constitute a “retreat.” Instead, Appellant’s parting threat and forceful slam of the door was an effort to instigate Bunucci and continue the verbal confrontation. Once Bunucci left his office to respond to Appellant’s threats, Appellant was seemingly waiting for him with a gun pointed to his chest. Had Appellant continued walking instead of pointing a gun at Bunucci’s chest while telling him to “get the fuck back,” he could have avoided any potential danger. However, Appellant continued to provoke Bunucci, therefore giving him an occasion to use the gun he long bragged about carrying. Accordingly, the State disproved multiple elements of self-defense.

CONCLUSION